
 
 

CITY OF DANBURY 
155 DEER HILL AVENUE 

DANBURY, CONNECTICUT 06810 
 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
(203) 797-4525 
(203) 797-4586 (FAX) 

DRAFT MINUTES – REGULAR MEETING 
September 12, 2013 

CONFERENCE ROOM 3C – Third Floor 
7:00 PM 

              
Present were Acting Chairman Herb Krate, Michael Sibbitt, Joseph Hanna, Rodney S. Moore, 
Alt. Anthony Rebeiro. 
Absent were Richard S. Jowdy, Chairman, Alt. Richard Roos, Alt. Vincent DiGilio. 
Staff present were Sean P. Hearty, Zoning Enforcement Officer, Secretary Patricia Lee. 
Herb Krate introduced the meeting, stating if there is anyone here for # 13-35, that has 
been pushed to the next meeting.   
Motion to hear tonight’s agenda, as listed below, by Joe Hanna. Second by Rod Moore.  
Motion  carried unanimously at 7:02 pm.  Krate explained the public hearing & rebuttal 
procedures to the audience.   
 
NOTE: THE FOLLOWING MATTER WILL BE CONTINUED UNTIL THE NEXT MEETING:  
 

# 13-35 – Mike Frisbie, 58 Padanaram Rd. (H09076), Sec.5.E.3.a., to reduce 
minimum front yard setback from 20 ft. to 12 ft. for canopy; Sec. 8.E.5.a., to 
reduce req’d. distance of sign from front lot line from 10 ft. to 3. ft. (CN-20 Zone). 
Applicant discovered additional variances are necessary so it had to be readvertised 
for the 9/26/13 meeting.  

 
CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
# 13-32 – Neil R. Marcus, Esq., 155 South Street & 2-12 Main Street (J15045, J15046, 
J15048) Sec.8.E.4.a.(3)., to allow 2 free-standing signs each of which exceeds 12 sq.ft. per 
sign within 50 ft. of a public right-of-way; to increase allowed height of 2 signs to 19 ft. (C-
CBD Zone). Krate introduced this issue and read the requests.  Attorney Neil Marcus, from 
Cohen & Wolf, PC, 158 Deer Hill Avenue, identified himself and gave the background of the 
previous meeting, with only 4 commissioners on 8/22/13.  So I will start again.  Marcus 
described the vicinity, Doctors Express, Bake Shop, the corner of Main and South. The site 
plan was not clear, and this is in fact the current approved site plan, revised 9/4/13.  Sean 
(Hearty) and I were wrong at the last meeting, Marcus said.  They discussed the current 
plan, dated 9/4/13, the plan that is before you, shows you what is approved on the site that 
is under construction.  He described the entrance, the turns, and a left and a right-hand 
turn out.  You can see the outline of the old house; that’s been knocked down.  By 
agreement with Abdul Mohamed, Traffic Engineer, we moved the driveway further west. We 
changed the zone.  The proposal before you today is for signage at the two driveways. We 
are asking for a waiver to allow us to put the sign on Main Street where it cannot be set 
back as per the regulations, because then the sign could not be seen.  Marcus described the 
Main Street Streetscape plan idea, to move buildings to the street.  The existing Doctors 
Express building has always been on the street.  The sign regulations require us to get a 
variance.  Krate asked have you done anything about the sign size?  Marcus discussed what 

ZBA   9/12/13 



 
 
is allowed, the size and the setback.  The commission felt that we were overreaching, and 
that the sign size was not in agreement with the commissioners’ idea. We are going to 
change the sign so that the sign board is now roughly 72 inches on each side; we cut it in 
half.  Hanna asked the size.  Six feet across by 6 feet high, Marcus said.  We listened to the 
commission, but we kept it to a proportion so that it can be seen.  Krate asked about the 
proposed signs’ lighting.  Krate gave the CVS sign history, and making that signage smaller, 
and it actually looked better.  I would love to see it lowered as CVS did, Krate said; but I 
can’t say anything about that.  Krate clarified, I didn’t say shrink it.  I don’t have to trust 
the sign people.  Marcus discussed the sign company’s idea of proportions of a sign.  Krate 
said you have this up at about the height of a traffic light, about 19 feet.  It would be nice if 
you could do that, but we can’t make you do that, Krate said.  Sean and Krate discussed the 
overall size of the monument.  The height is smaller, but the sign is larger on Alternate 2.  
Krate observed now this is more in keeping with what we started at CVS.  Marcus discussed 
what Rod Moore had asked for.  Marcus said the last thing I want to do is drive down Main 
Street and say what a silly looking sign.  Krate asked about the South Street signage.  
Marcus said it’s the same.  Krate said I don’t want light bleeding over if we can help it.  
From the audience, Batista said we put one in Stoney Hill in Bethel; we came up with a 
monument over there.  This is less than you came in originally, Krate said.  Moore said the 
monument only increases the width of the sign. Batista identified which rendering he prefers 
to Herb Krate.  The monument sign; I’ll call it exhibit 1, and I’m going to sign it too, Krate 
said.  Marcus and Hearty discussed the size, the lettering, the revision dates, and that the 
applicant that usually comes in with coffee and donuts for the commissioners (Batista 
laughed).  Marcus asked for consideration to his two signs.  Marcus said you said Ed Batista 
tends to do things right. Krate asked is there anyone who wishes to speak for or in 
opposition to this variance request?  Thank you. The board will inform you of our decision.  
Rod Moore made a motion to close this public hearing.  Hanna seconded the motion.  Motion 
carried unanimously at 7:24 pm. 
In the voting session, Krate reviewed the Dunkin Donuts signs; he pretty much did 
everything we wanted.  Hopefully this will be the way Main Street will go from now on.  Rod 
Moore said the monument is still pretty big, but it is the lesser.  Hanna made a motion to 
approve to allow 2 free-standing signs each of which exceeds 12 sq. ft. per sign within 50 
feet of a public right-of-way; to increase allowed height of two signs to 19 feet, per plan 
submitted. Hearty said the height thing is not required anymore.  Krate said this will provide 
better visibility for Main Street; there may be minor adjustments for the line of sight, said 
Hearty and Joe Hanna.  Sibbitt seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously at 7:55 
pm. 
 
# 13-31 – Alan N. Potter, 13 Cedar Dr. (J03129), Sec.4.A.3., to reduce east side yard 
setback from 15 ft. to 3.8 ft.; to reduce west side yard setback from 15 ft. to 5.6 ft.; to 
increase maximum allowed building coverage from 20% to 22.14 % for single-family 
residence (RA-20 Zone).   Krate introduced this application at 7:25 pm and read it into the 
record.  Don Reisert and Alan Potter came forward and signed in.  Reisert said since the last 
meeting we have actually shifted the house.  This is existing, and this is proposed.  Now we 
are moving out to 3.8 to the overhang; 4.8 ft. to the building itself.  The commissioners 
studied the revised maps.  Krate said you’ve done good.  Potter and Krate discussed the 
arborvitae height; Krate said we asked for 6 feet.  We shifted it a little bit further than you 
asked.  Any questions, Krate said. Rod Moore said the coverage is still the same.  Hearty 
asked are you going to raze that lot?  Reisert said no and explained to Hearty.  Any questions, 
Krate asked.  Nothing?  Thank you for your presentation.  For the minutes, the revision dated 
8/15/13 is the revised plan we have.  We’re good, Krate said.  Krate signed the approved 
plan.  Reisert said thank you.  Krate asked is there anyone who wishes to speak for or in 
opposition to this variance request?  Motion to close the public hearing by Rod Moore.  Hanna 
seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously at 7:30 pm.  Krate introduced this item 

ZBA 9/12/13 
Page 2 



 
 
later in the voting session, saying they came back with everything we asked for.  Rod Moore 
made a motion to approve 13 Cedar Drive, to reduce east side yard setback from 15 ft. to 
3.8 ft.; to reduce west side yard setback from 15 ft. to 5.6 ft.; to increase maximum allowed 
building coverage from 20% to 22.14 % for single-family residence in the RA-20 zone. It’s in 
character with the neighborhood; one is a lesser variance, per plan submitted, with the 
modification of the addition of the six-foot high arborvitae shown on the plan.  Sibbitt 
seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously at 7:57 pm 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
# 13-34 – Neil R. Marcus, Esq. (Merullo), 5 Circle Dr. (I05087), Sec.4.A.3., to reduce 
minimum req’d. front yard setback from 30 ft. to 1.8 ft.; to reduce minimum front yard 
setback from 30 ft. to 10.0 feet; to reduce minimum side yard setback from 15 ft. to 11.1 
ft.; Sec. 8.A.2.c.(4)., to reduce minimum setback from bottom edge of excavation or fill to 
property line from 5 ft. to 0.0 ft. for res. expansions (RA-20 Zone).  Krate introduced this 
item at 7:31 pm and read the details of the requests.  Oh, it’s a corner lot, Krate said.  
Sounds like we are trying to put a battleship on a postage stamp, Krate said.  The 
commissioners looked at the map.  (Tape 1 flipped to side B).  Marcus said this is a matter 
that was before you previously; and the matter did not really go forward.  We cleaned up 
the application.  Krate said it looks like you’re taking it down and building another one.  
Marcus said we’re not, and he listed what is proposed.  Now they have the architecturals 
that match the application, Marcus said.  Marcus provided the north and east elevations; 
north is the front of the house, the one that you see from Circle Drive.  Krate had Tim 
Merullo come forward and sign in.  Krate asked Merullo is this the front?  What am I looking 
at?  Marcus and Merullo clarified the front, the entry, the south elevation, the westerly 
elevation.  Three stories, Marcus said; it meets the height standard.  Marcus said if you look 
at the map that Syd Rapp prepared, which Marcus discussed, the existing deck, the 
property line; the house is practically on the property line.  We must put a footing in; they 
will dig it, close it in, and it will be finished.  Krate said I get it.  The second variance, in the 
easterly direction, the existing corner of house is 10.6 feet; the overhang about 9.4 feet.  
Hearty, Krate, Marcus,  A pie-shaped lot, Marcus said.  Merullo said it’s 100 yards from the 
lake maybe.  It sounds like we are asking for an enormous amount. Hanna asked why can’t 
he make it smaller?  It will not be a deck anymore; it is a house, Marcus said.  Rebeiro said 
the dark line is the property line.  Krate said it is not outrageous.  We have a bunch of 
neighbors in support of the project as it is in keeping with the neighborhood.   Marcus listed 
the neighbors’ letters; their names and addresses.  Marcus showed some photographs.  
Marcus said superior court takes FAXed documents as original documents.  Krate asked can 
I have these renderings to put with the file?  Krate said to Neil Marcus, no history lessons; 
it’s almost 8 pm.  What are those photos, Krate asked?  Marcus described the photos of the 
neighborhood, the rare cottages, where the cottage is on the map; the Keebler property.  
The application sounds like a lot of variances, but the existing structure is pre-existing non-
conforming.  Sibbitt brought up a distance not noted; not shown on the map. Marcus, 
Sibbitt and Krate discussed where. Sibbitt said I’m not going to approve a variance if they 
do it wrong.  Marcus said in that narrow space, it’s got to be on target.  Krate asked is there 
anyone who wishes to speak for or in opposition to this proposal. Mr. Arthur Keebler signed 
in and came forward.  Aqua Vista translates to water view.  This house expansion will take 
away the water view, Keebler said.  Krate and Keebler discussed the septic system, and 
where it is showed on the plan.  Hearty said 35 feet is the maximum height.  Krate said the 
height is in compliance.  Keebler said the water system has not been updated at Aqua Vista.  
Krate replied you’re in the wrong place for that complaint; the water usage is not is not our 
purview.  Keebler said I feel that this is gong to take away from my property value.  You 
should be doing it, but you are not doing it; shame on you, Krate said.  He compared the 
Aqua Vista water system improvements to Mr. Keebler.  Krate said the footprint is really not 

ZBA 9/12/13 
Page 3 



 
 
changing; they are within the building code. Keebler concluded thank you for your time. 
Merullo and Marcus stood back up and showed a photograph.  Merullo said that house has 
never been inhabited in ten years; the small cottage he referred to.  Motion to close the 
public hearing by Rebeiro.  Sibbitt seconded the motion.  Motion carried unanimously to 
close the public hearing.  In voting session later, Rebeiro made a motion to approve # 13-
34 to reduce the minimum required front yard setback from 30 ft. to 1.8 ft.; to reduce the 
minimum front yard setback from 30 ft. to 10.0 feet; to reduce the minimum side yard 
setback from 15 ft. to 11.1 ft.; Sec. 8.A.2.c.(4)., to reduce minimum setback from the 
bottom edge of excavation or fill to property line from 5 ft. to 0.0 ft. for residential 
expansions, per plan submitted. Hanna seconded the motion.  Krate asked is there any 
discussion?  Motion carried unanimously at 8:00 pm.  Everything he (Keebler) brought up 
was not within our purview, Krate said.  
 
 
ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES:   August 8, 2013, meeting minutes could not be approved. 
Hanna motioned to approve the August 22, 2013, meeting minutes.  Rebeiro seconded the 
motion.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
Motion to adjourn by Hanna.  Second by Rod Moore.  Motion carried unanimously at           
8:02 pm. 
 
THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING IS SCHEDULED FOR September 26, 2013. 
 
 

ZBA 9/12/13 
Page 4 


	DRAFT MINUTES – REGULAR MEETING
	September 12, 2013

